
SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW

PLAN FOR WASTE

Wednesday 22 March 2017
3.00 pm
Warspite Room, Council House

Members:
Councillor Bowie, Chair
Councillor Ball, Vice Chair
Councillors Aspinall, Churchill and Storer.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

This meeting will be broadcast live to the internet and will be capable of subsequent repeated 
viewing.  By entering the Warspite Room and during the course of the meeting, Councillors are 
consenting to being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting.

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy.

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 
process please follow this link - http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings 

Tracey Lee
Chief Executive

Democratic and Member Support
Chief Executive’s Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ

Please ask for Helen Rickman
T 01752 398444
E Democratic Support Advisor
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy
Published 14/03/17

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


Select Committee Review

Agenda

1. Apologies  

To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Members.

2. Declarations of Interest  

Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 
agenda.

3. Chair's Urgent Business  

To receive reports on business, which in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 
forward for urgent consideration.

4. Select Committee Review: Plan for Waste:  

4a. Supporting Information (Pages 1 - 30)

4b. Recommendations



 

  

 

Place and Corporate Overview and  

Scrutiny - Select Committee 
  22 March 2017

  
Subject:            Modernisation of Waste and Street Services 

Committee: Select Committee – Place and Corporate Overview and                  

Scrutiny 

Date:    22 March 2017 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Leaves, Cabinet Member for Strategic Street 

Scene and Environment 

CMT Member:   Anthony Payne (Strategic Director for Place) 

Author: Sue Rouse (Project Manager) 

Contact details   Tel:  01752 306384 

                                                      Sue.rouse@plymouth.gov.uk  

 

Purpose of the report:  

This document sets out the context for the Street Scene and Waste Services Policy and illustrates 

how it has been developed collaboratively with a wide range of Stakeholders. It will also detail how 

it will be communicated to the public once it is approved. 

Background 

A plan for modernising the Waste and Street Cleansing and Grounds Maintenance Services was 

presented to the Place and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Panel last 5th October 

2016.  

The plan to modernise the service recognised the need for it to become more efficient and for the 

separate functions to join up to work as a more holistic delivery of cleansing, recycling and waste 

collection and grounds maintenance. This aligned service would more effectively manage the public 

spaces and streets and work towards a cleaner, greener city. A Business Case to deliver the plan 

was approved by Cabinet on 8 November 2016. 

Key aims are to increase the rate of recycling across the city to 40% by 2020 (rising to 50% by 

2034) and reduce the overall waste generated in brown bins through awareness raising and 

education campaigns which help people to make smarter choices, generate less waste and recycle 

more of what they do generate. 



 

 

Many areas of the country have shown that it is possible to achieve high levels of recycling from 

the municipal waste collections, and many have used reduced household collection frequencies as 

a driver for change. However, there is no national one-size solution to optimize waste 

management solutions. Every area has to adopt the best combination of practices to suit local 

circumstances.  

Strong communications and clear campaigns are important factors, together with consistent 

awareness and education for all sections of the community and front line staff. The publication of a 

Street Scene and Waste Service Policy will form the basis on which communication about the 

service can be formed. 

The creation of a policy which sets out how the service will be delivered for Plymouth is 

recommendation 5 in the approved business case. A request for an Executive decision to approve 

the policy will be submitted once the Scrutiny process has been satisfied. 

Development of the Policy  

The Street Scene and Waste policy has been developed by collating input from across a wide 

range of key stakeholders including Members across all parties, frontline workers within the 

service, Supervisors and managers within the service, and associated departments for example 

Legal Services and Public Protection Service. This has been in the form of workshops structured 

to gather the issues and opportunities to improve the service from the perspective of staff and 

councillors, and considered both detailed, specific issues in the city, and consistent problems that 

affect a wider area. 

It has taken account of detailed analysis and engagement including:  

 Review of feedback from customers made via Firmstep, with 567 responses in the last 12 

months reviewed 

 Review of the responses to relevant questions in the ‘Time for Big Decisions’ Consultation 
questionnaire which was completed in September 2016. 

 Review of previous drafts of Waste policies in Plymouth  

 Review of Policies in other local authorities in our CIPFA family group and authorities 

deemed to excel at engagement on waste issues. 

 WRAP (Waste Reduction and Participation) national best practice guidance – the ‘Waste 

Commitment’ 

 Series of workshops with Service Team Leaders, Staff focus groups and regular reviews of 
drafts by Team Leaders and Managers 

 Input and reviews from Legal Services and Public Protection services to ensure a policy 

would be sufficiently robust against which to take enforcement decisions. 

 Series of 7 Ward Councillor drop-ins in November/December to capture key issues which 

would need to be addressed within the policy. 

 Regular updates and amendments made with Portfolio Holder. 

 Discussion at Shadow Portfolio Holder meetings. 

 Update at Labour group meeting on progress and development of the policy. 

 Reviewed by CMT 

 

 

 



 

 

Delivery of the Service in Line with the Policy 

Work has commenced with Team Leaders and Managers to review working practices which will 

be required to ensure the service is delivered in line with the policy. The service has been through 

a re-structure which has brought all the roles across the separate functions together and looked at 

how they should work differently, what new roles are required and what needs to be addressed. 

A training and development plan is being developed to ensure that staff understand their new 

roles, know what is expected of them, and that they have the skills, knowledge and support to 

make the change to their working practices. Regular workshops with Team Leaders and frontline 

staff to develop this work will commenced on 8 March. 

Communication of the Approved Policy 

Once the policy is approved the intention is to:  

 Publish the policy on the Plymouth City Council Website, so our residents understand 

what to expect from the service and what their responsibilities are 

 Update Members of the policy decision and it’s journey via Member’s Toolkit 

 Update the information on the relevant sections of the website and public Frequently 

Asked Questions to help answer questions from the public and minimise the need for 

residents to call or visit Customer Services 

 Brief Customer Services staff on the content of the policy, so they can deal with public 

queries at the first point of contact 

 Train Street Scene and Waste Service staff on new ways of working and also ensure that 

they have the right information so they support residents who have questions. 

 Update council staff of its approval via Staffroom – many of our staff are also Plymouth 
residents and are also advocates for the council 

 Issue a press release as part of the overall communications build up to the changes to 

collections for refuse, recycling and garden waste from 8 May 2017 

 Update our partners (particularly housing management companies and Registered Social 

Landlords. 

Equality and Diversity 

Two Equalities Impact Assessments (EIA) have been carried out, one for the workforce the other 

for customers and partner organisations, this ensures clarity of adverse impact and mitigation 

actions. 

Summary of Equalities Impact Assessments – Customer and Partner  

Data from the 2011/2012 census has been used to conduct the assessment, with the main actions 

to ensure consideration is given the needs of all resident regardless of protected characteristic 

are: 

‘Collect and collate information from partner agencies to identify current assisted collection users who will 

continue to require support.’ 

‘Engage with partner agencies such as PCH, Plymouth University and the NHS trust(s) to promote and 

support project / service communication and education plans.’ 



 

 

 

Formalising the Street Scene and Waste Services policy for Plymouth, giving clear guidance on the 

responsibilities of residents, as well as setting customer expectations of the service will enable a 

clear and fair enforcement policy. 

Summary of Equality Impact Assessment – Workforce  

September 2016 establishment data has been used to conduct the assessment. 

The main impact on employees will be a slightly longer working day. To ensure the impact does 

not adversely affect one particular protected characteristic, all employees will continue to be 

assessed for their needs via the management team. Flexible working requests and purchase of 

additional annual leave remain as options to ensure staff can achieve a good work life balance. 

 

Recommendation: 

 

Recommend that the committee notes the policy appended to this report as an appropriate 
response to Recommendation 5 of the approved business case.  

 

 ‘Recommendation 5: Development of efficient Waste Collection and Recycling Policy and 

customer service standards, which will ensure a high quality and consistent standard of service to 

meet the needs of this growing city.’ 

 

 

 

Published work / information: 

Approved Business Case for the Modernisation of Waste and Street Services 

The Household Waste Collection Commitment | WRAP UK 

 

 

http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s74379/Waste%20modernisation.pdf
http://www.wrap.org.uk/content/household-waste-collection-commitment-0


 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy OFFICIAL 

STREET SCENE AND WASTE SERVICES        
POLICY 
Making Plymouth cleaner and greener 

 

1. Introduction  

Plymouth’s vision is to become one of Europe’s most vibrant waterfront cities where an outstanding 
quality of life is enjoyed by everyone. 

We aim to work as one team serving our city and as part of continuing to modernise our services, we 

are bringing together two teams to work collaboratively and with you our residents to create a 

cleaner and greener city. 

How our streets look and feel are critical to how we feel about where we live.  Plymouth has a great 

reputation as a green and pleasant city, but we know there is more we can do. 

We are embarking on a programme of change that will make a real difference to where you live. 

We cannot achieve this alone. It is vital that we have the support and co-operation of those living, 

visiting and working in Plymouth.  Everyone creates waste and everyone has to play their part so that 

together we can make a big difference to our city. 

To support a collaborative approach, we are setting out clearly the policy the Council’s Street Scene 

and Waste teams will follow – and crucially – the support we expect from you as citizens of the City. 

This is backed up by Plymouth’s Street Scene and Waste Collection Commitment. For more 

information on the national WRAP (Waste and Resources Action Programme) Waste Collection 

Commitment see this leaflet (196.6 KB) . 

Having this information in one place will enable us to inform you about what we will do as part of the 

service. Our teams will also be able to use this information when providing additional support as the 

new collections schedule start from May 2017 

 

2. Working with Residents for a Cleaner, Greener Plymouth  

This policy is based on the national best practice principles outlined in the Waste Collection 

Commitment which ensures that the service offered is good value for money and meets the needs of 

our citizens. We have taken this example of good practice and broadened it to apply to all of Street 

Scene and Waste Services. 

Plymouth’s Street Scene and Waste Collection Service Commitment 

Plymouth City Council has signed up to the Waste Collection Commitment, which aims to clearly set 

out, through a number of general principles, the standard of service that every household should 

expect from their Street Scene and Waste collection services. 

This means we will: 

 Explain clearly what services you can expect to receive  

 Provide regular collections  

 Provide a reliable collection service  

 Consider any special requests that individual households may have  

 Design our services and carry out collections in a way that doesn’t produce litter  

 Collect as many materials for recycling as we can and explain to you what happens to them  

 Explain clearly what our service rules are and the reasons for them  

 Tell you in good time if we have to make changes to your services, even temporarily  

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Waste_collection_leaflet.8d0461e1.7597.pdf


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 2 of 11 

 Respond to complaints we receive about our services  

 Tell all our residents about this commitment to collecting waste. 

This policy will clearly set out the details of the service that will be provided by Plymouth City 

Council’s Street Scene and Waste Services under this commitment, and the particular actions that our 

residents need to take to enable that service to be delivered for you. 

We are committed to working together with residents and businesses to ensure they get the 

standard of service they expect, when they expect it, and also that the service can be run efficiently 

and represent good value for money. Examples of how this can work are below: 

 

Street Scene and Waste Service will: Residents enable this by: 

Empty your recycling and waste containers from 

the designated collection point for your property, 

on your published collection day, ensuring no 

waste is left behind - and then put your 

containers back to the correct collection point, 

taking care not to block access. 

Remove any waste spilled during collection.  

Putting your containers out at the correct time, 

on the correct day, in the correct collection 

point. 

Labelling your container with your property 

number – so crew know where to put it back to. 

 

Ensure that streets and rear lanes are cleaned 

efficiently following waste collections 

 

Bringing in your bin - taking your bin back onto 

your property on the evening after collection so 

that we can get access to sweep the streets and 

lanes. 

Remove flytipping in a timely fashion; 

Deal with side waste as it is found by service 

operatives by putting it into the relevant 

container for the next collection and labelling the 

bin to let the resident know why they cannot 

take side waste. 

Operatives will log addresses where side waste is 

left and arrange for Recycling Officers to visit and 

advise the resident on more effective ways of 

managing waste 

 

Use the household waste recycling centres for 

DIY rubbish, other recyclables or heavy items – 

and not putting them into your wheeled bin or 

leaving it at the side.  

Don’t over-fill your bin or leave side waste - 

ensuring you make best use of space in your 

recycling and waste containers, for example, by 

breaking down cardboard boxes, and that the lids 

are closed. 

Increase the amount of recycling successfully 

processed from kerbside collections, saving 

money for Plymouth and contributing to our 

greener city aims. 

 

Rinsing all recyclable items (check the sticker on 

your green bin to see what you can recycle), and 

put them in the correct recycling bin. 

 

Team Leaders in the service will be monitoring the quality and frequency of the service delivered to 

ensure we are meeting the standards and schedules detailed in this policy and on our website. They 

will identify any problems with the service offered and address these or if there are persistent 

problems with residents or businesses not using the service effectively or managing their recycling and 

waste responsibly, our Recycling Officers will help those involved to find better solutions.  

Persistent abuse of the service and not managing waste responsibly causes distress to people living 

and working nearby and is costly to address – therefore we will use enforcement action if necessary 

to ensure the service can operate efficiently and Plymouth people can enjoy a clean and green city. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 3 of 11 

 

3. Waste  

The Waste and Street Scene Service will: 

Provide an alternate weekly collection for recycling and waste. Recycling (green container) will be 

collected one week and non-recycling (brown container) the following week.   

Provide additional household collection services for garden waste, large bulky waste items and 
healthcare waste. 

Provide recycling and reuse centres at Chelson Meadow, Weston Mill and recycling banks – such as 

bottle and paper banks – throughout the city for recycling.  

 

3.1. Household recycling and waste collection 

Containers – what is provided: 

Households will be allocated appropriate containers for their property. Most Households will be 

issued with one green and one brown 240l wheeled bin containers. This is the standard container 

provided as part of the collection service. Most households will have sufficient space in both their 

brown wheeled bin and green wheeled bin if they manage their recycling and waste carefully.  

Exceptions: Where individual wheeled bins are not appropriate, alternative containers will be 

provided, such as bags or where individual containers are not suitable, then access to a communal 

container. Larger households or households with additional needs may request further assistance to 

manage their recycling and waste, this will be assessed on a case by case basis. 

You can see what type of container is provided for your house hold, what day and week your 

collection is made for recycling and waste and where your collection point is on 

www.plymouth.gov.uk/whatdaybinday or by calling 01752 668000. 

Only recycling and waste put in containers provided by the Council will be collected, and only when 

presented in the right place on the day of collection for your household.  Containers are the property 

of the Council and should stay at the address they have been supplied to. Residents are responsible 

for their containers and must ensure they are kept on their property between collections. 

There will be a charge for delivery of replacement containers. There will be no charge if the 

replacement container is collected from designated distribution points. Details of this service can be 

found on our website at www.plymouth.gov.uk.  

Any damage to containers proved to be the fault of the Council will be replaced and delivered free of 

charge. Collection operatives report any damaged containers caused through the operation of 

collection and CCTV is available for review in such cases.  If the damage is not caused by the Council, 

replacement containers will be free but there is a charge for delivery. 

 

3.2 Managing your recycling and waste 

We ask residents to: 

Help the crews collect as efficiently as possible by: 

 Putting recycling and waste only in containers provided by the Council. 

 Not putting recycling in plastic bags or bin bags – if crews cannot see the recycling they will 

assume it is rubbish and will not risk contaminating the recycling in the vehicle – instead your 

container will be tagged explaining why it has not been emptied. 

 Only putting the following recyclable items directly into the green recycling containers: 

 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/whatdaybinday
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 4 of 11 

Material type  Items 

Paper  Office paper, leaflets, catalogues & directories, magazines, 

shredded paper, envelopes (including plastic window type), gift 

wrapping paper, greetings cards. 

Cardboard  Packaging – including cereal boxes, egg boxes, cardboard tubes, 

i.e. toilet and kitchen roll tubes, boxes from new items, 

corrugated cardboard. 

Metal cans & foil All food and drink cans (including pet food cans), sweet and biscuit 

tins, sheet foil and foil containers i.e. cake trays and takeaway 

containers.  

Plastic bottles & 

containers 

All plastic bottles i.e. lemonade, milk, water, shampoo, detergent 

bottles.  Rigid plastic containers e.g. margarine and food trays, 

yogurt pots, fruit punnets.  

Glass  Glass bottles and jars any colour or size 

Items must be into the container loose and bottles and jars rinsed.  

 

 Brown containers contain food waste and non-recyclable household waste only. 

 Container lids to be closed so they can be emptied safely, to prevent littering and waste being 

spread by rodents, seagulls and other pests.  

 Containers are not overloaded, making them too heavy or difficult for our collectors to safely 
manoeuvre.  For items that are too large or heavy, see Bulky Collections or take them to the 

household waste recycling centres at Chelson Meadow or Weston Mill. 

 No black bags or waste items left by the side of waste containers. This is to prevent littering 

and waste from being spread by pests.   

Additional brown side waste will not be taken as part of the alternate weekly collection – it will be 

put into the emptied container ready for the next collection. Householders will need to manage their 

waste within the containers they have allocated, or contact the service for advice. However, action 

will be taken against those who repeatedly leave additional waste at the side of their bin and not 

placed in the container provided with the lid closed. 

Additional recyclables that cannot be fitted into the green container will be taken if it is left out next 
to the green recyclable container in a box on the day of collection. Please note it will not be taken if it 

is wet cardboard (as this cannot be recycled), left in a black sack or carrier bag or if it is soiled – as 

this could contaminate other recyclables.  

 

3.3 Collection Points and Times   

We ask residents to: 

Use the standard collection point, which is at the kerbside next to the property, where the container 

is easily seen.  Where collections cannot easily be made from the kerbside, we will identify other 

collection points and let you know where to put out your bin. 

Ensure containers are put at the designated collection point by 6.30am on collection day but not 

before 6pm the night before.  Collections will be made after 6.30am on collection day.  We will 

publicise where collection points are and the day of collection on our website.  

 ‘Bring in your bin’ - containers left out between collections can have a significant impact on 

local communities, making pavements more difficult to navigate, particularly for people with 

disabilities and those who use a pram.  Containers left out also affect the appearance of an 

area.  It is your responsibility not to leave containers out between collections.  Containers 

must be returned to within the boundary of the property or designated storage area by the 

end of the collection day.   



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 5 of 11 

 If you put your house number on your container it helps the crews ensure they can are 
returned to the correct collection point. 

 ‘Bringing in your bin’ onto your property will also enable our street cleansing team better 

access to do their work and to keep areas free of litter.  

 

Waste and Street Services will ensure that: 

 We tell you where and when you need to put out your bin for collection and when to take it 
back in. 

 Containers are returned to the designated collection point and will not block your access. 

 Lids will be closed. 

 Containers that are damaged during collection will be tagged to advise that a replacement has 

been requested. 

 Ensure that streets and rear lanes are cleaned efficiently following waste collections. 

We will work with you to identify and resolve issues that prevent containers being returned within 

the boundary of properties. Where bins are not being returned to properties on a regular basis 
enforcement action may be taken.  

 

3.4 Missed Collections 

If a container is not emptied on collection day due to an error, it is classed as a missed collection.   

We ask residents to: 

Only report a missed collection after 5pm on the scheduled collection day, and within 48 hours of it 

being missed. Any reported after that will not be collected until the next scheduled round. 

Waste and Street Scene Service Will: 

Return to empty bins classed as missed collections. 

If a container has not been emptied for a specific reason, it will be tagged with a description of the 

issue, such as excessive weight or the recycling contaminated with the wrong material.  It is the 

householder’s responsibility to resolve this issue in time for the next scheduled collection. This is not 

treated as a missed collection. 

 

4. Garden Waste Collection 

Street Scene and Waste Service will: 

Provide a fortnightly seasonal garden waste collection service.  We will collect: 

 Grass cuttings 

 Old plants 

 Hedge trimmings 

 Non-invasive weeds 

 Branches (up to the thickness of a wrist) 

The garden waste will be picked up on a designated day for your household. Details of when the 

service will start and finish will be available on www.plymouth.gov.uk and you can check which day 

and week your collection is due by checking www.plymouth.gov.uk/whatdaybinday or by calling 01752 

668000. 

 

 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/whatdaybinday


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 6 of 11 

We ask residents to: 

Only put garden waste in the garden waste bags provided by Plymouth City Council. We will collect a 

maximum of four garden waste bags per household from the designated collection point for your 

property. The containers should not contain: 

 Food waste 

 Japanese knotweed  

 Ragwort 

 Soil  

 Building material 

 Cat litter 

 Dog fouling 

 

5. Bulky Waste Collections 

Street Scene and Waste Service will: 

Offer a collection and disposal service for items that are too large or too heavy to be placed in a 
collection container. There is a charge for this service as detailed below.  Examples of what we collect 

include beds and mattresses, carpets (cut into manageable pieces, rolled and tied - underlay is a 

separate item), electrical items, fridges, freezers, white goods and furniture. 

We ask residents to: 

Ensure items booked for this service can be carried by two people, and that they are not filled with 

other rubbish. 

Place the items for collection in a place that is easy to get to and all in one place outside the property.   

We reserve the right to refuse to collect any waste items that may cause harm or may have an effect 

on health and safety of waste collection staff. 

We will not collect asbestos, building or DIY waste, car parts and tyres, chemicals, commercial 

equipment or paint.  

 5.1 Charges for bulky waste collections 

There is a single charge for up to three items; four or more items carry an additional charge. Details 

can be found on our website or by getting in touch with our contact centre. 

Some items – such as three-seater settees, double cookers or extra-long ladders count as two items 

due to their size and weight. Some items may require a risk assessment to ensure we are able to 

collect the items safely and you will be made aware of this when you book your collection. 

Those on income support, housing benefit, council tax support or pension credits are entitled to two 

free collections a year. These collections must be booked separately and on different days. 

 

6. Assisted Collections 

Street Scene and Waste Service will: 

Offer assisted collections to those who are physically unable to, and have no one in their household 

or nearby to put their recycling and waste out for collection. Details are available on our website or 

via the Contact Centre. 

We ask residents to: 

Show evidence of need for this service by submitting one of the following:   



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 7 of 11 

 Documents confirming that the householder is receiving Disability Living Allowance, Personal 
Independence Payment or Attendance Allowance. Document must be dated within the last 12 

months 

 The signature and contact details of a healthcare professional, such as a social worker or 

support worker. (Please note - some GPs ask you to pay for them to provide this 

information.)  We may contact the healthcare professional to verify details. 

 Medical evidence, for example, a recent letter confirming surgery appointments.  

If we need more information a member of our team may visit you to talk through your application. 

Some applications may be for temporary support, for example in the case of pregnancy or injury. In 

these instances we will provide a service for a three month period; at the end of this period you will 

need to re-apply for the service if you still need extra support. 

Tell us about any change in circumstances affecting your eligibility to an assisted collection. We will 

carry out periodic reviews to check your ongoing eligibility for scheme. 

 

7. Healthcare Waste 

We provide a service for collection of healthcare waste, which is any waste produced by, and as a 

consequence of, healthcare activities. Only infectious healthcare waste and sharps/needles need a 

separate healthcare collection, as directed by a healthcare professional.  

We ask residents to tell us about any change in circumstances affecting your eligibility to this service.  

We will carry out reviews from time to time to check whether you are still eligible. 

Healthcare waste is not accepted at recycling centres. 

To apply for this service please visit www.plymouth.gov.uk or by calling 01752 668000. 

 

8. Fly Tipping and Fly Posting 

We remove fly tipping and fly posting from Plymouth City Council owned land.  

Where incidents occur on private land or there are areas that are becoming unsightly due to issues 

with fly tipping we are able to serve notice on the land owner and reclaim the costs of tidying the 

area up through a legal process. 

 Please see below for how we will help to deal with fly tipping and fly posting. You can help by 

reporting incidents of fly tipping and letting us know of any details to help us take action. 

 

9. Helping Residents to Manage their Recycling and Waste Responsibly 

     9.1 Information and support 

Everyone is responsible for the waste they produce.  We will work with you, and with businesses and 

visitors to ensure you are clear about your role and responsibilities to help make the city clean and 

tidy.  We will also do our bit by issuing clear information.    

For example, if you see that a neighbour that keeps leaving their bin out between collections, please 

let us know and we will be able to have a discussion with them.  We have a team of Recycling Officers 

who can visit residents to explain roles and responsibilities, and highlight the importance of ensuring 

our streets are kept free of clutter, and that containers are tidied away off the streets in between 

collection days.   

9.2 Enforcement 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 8 of 11 

We will support residents and businesses to manage their rubbish responsibly, and in all cases, our 

preference is to resolve any issues quickly but in cases where people do not comply with their 

responsibilities, we have various powers that we can use, such as: 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 

 Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 

 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 Regulations made under these Acts 

 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Parts 215 and 216 

We will follow a staged approach to enforcement.  The enforcement process includes warnings and 

formal enforcement action, including the issue of fixed penalty notices or prosecution through the 

courts. 

Breaches may include: 

 Containers repeatedly left on the street – residents who repeatedly leave bins out on the 

street and do not return their waste container to their property by the end of the day of 

collection. 

 Side waste – residents who repeatedly leave additional waste at the side of their bin and not 
place it in the container provided with the lid closed. 

 Fly tipping – residents who repeatedly put out items such as furniture and random items which 

the crews and their vehicles are unable to take.  Where waste on private land appears to have 

a negative impact on the surrounding area, we will use sections 215 and 216 Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 as these sections allow the local planning authority to serve notice 

for the removal of waste and to take enforcement action if the waste is not removed. 

 Contamination of the recycling container – residents who repeatedly place the wrong waste in 
their recycling container which contaminates the waste, reducing the quality of the recycling 

 Graffiti and fly posting – on buildings, walls or other monuments or objects owned by the 

Council. 

 

10. Other Facilities for Recycling and Reuse  

We have two household waste recycling centres at Chelson Meadow and Weston Mill for public use 

for recycling and reuse, as well as a number of recycling banks across the city. 

You can take the following items to the recycling centres: 

 Large bulky waste items, such as white goods, furniture, cardboard packaging. 

 Items that are not collected in the household kerbside collection schemes, such as small 

electrical goods, plasterboard, etc... 

 Items suitable for reuse, such as furniture, bric-a-brac, textiles. 

 Excess waste materials that cannot fit into the recycling or waste container 

 Garden waste, including grass cuttings 

 Hazardous items, such as tins of paint, gas cylinders 

To ensure this facility can be offered free of charge to residents of Plymouth, you are requested to 

bring proof of address – a driving licence, utility bill or similar can be shown. 

Commercial businesses are able to make use of the household waste recycling centres to dispose of 

waste for a fee (for charges please call the commercial waste line on 01752 304700). 

 

   10.1 Vans and Trailers  

As a Plymouth resident you can apply for a free permit to bring a van or a trailer into Chelson 

Meadow (vans are not permitted at Weston Mill).  Only one permit per household is allowed and 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 9 of 11 

they cannot be transferred between residents. You can do this by visiting us in person at Chelson 

Meadow before you visit the recycling centre. 

You are responsible for notifying us of a change of address or vehicle.  Permits cost £10 to replace if 

lost. 

 

Vans towing trailers, vehicles over 3.5 tonnes 

when fully laden, or trailers over three metres long 

Not allowed 

Permits for small vehicles e.g. Van or trailer less 

than 1.8 metres long 

Allowed to make 12 tips a year 

Only three of these tips can be to deposit soil 

or rubble 

If you have green waste only it will not count 

against the number of tips. 

 

Permits for large vehicles e.g. Van or trailer 

between 1.8 and three metres long 

Allowed to make six tips a year 

Only one of these tips can be to deposit soil or 

rubble 

If you have green waste only it will not count 

against the number of tips. 

 

 

10.2 Recycling Banks 

We have a number of recycling banks across the city for the following: 

 Glass bottles & jars 

 Plastic bottles 

 Metal cans 

 Paper 

 Textiles 

Details of their locations can be found on our website at www.plymouth.gov.uk  

11. Commercial Waste 

All businesses have to get rid of their waste as part of their duty of care. We provide a commercial 

recycling and waste collection service to businesses at a competitive rate. 

Commercial waste is waste generated from premises used wholly or mainly for the purposes of a 

trade or business. It does not include household waste.  

Waste that is generated within a house or garden, but as a result of a business activity (for example 

garden waste generated by a landscape gardener or building waste as a result of removing a fitted 

kitchen) is considered to be commercial waste and is the responsibility of the business as part of their 

duty of care. 

Competitive quotes to meet business needs can be obtained by calling the commercial waste line on 

01752 304700. 

 

12. Charity Waste 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 10 of 11 

Charities can deposit recycling and waste that originated wholly from donations from domestic 

households for free at Chelson Meadow Household Waste Recycling Centre only, Weston Mill 

HWRC does not accept waste from charitable sources.  Where a third party waste carrier is engaged 

by a charity to transport recycling and waste for deposit to the HWRC, the waste carrier will be 

levied with the charge for disposal of the recycling and waste.  There is no charge to the charity. 

Recycling and waste that has arisen from the general running of the charity or is non-household waste 
is classified as commercial waste, and is subject to a charge. 

Charges will apply to recycling and waste that has arisen from commercial activity, such as house 

clearances. 

Waste from a place of worship or a place wholly used for public meetings, can be deposited at 

Chelson Meadow for free.   

We can provide a collection service from charity shops and places of worship at a charge. 

 

13.  How we keep the city clean 

We will clear litter and waste from land owned by Plymouth City Council.  We are responsible for 

ensuring the maintenance of landscaped areas within the city, which includes flower and shrub beds, 

parks and open spaces owned by Plymouth City Council. 

Duties we carry out include: 

 Litter picking  

 Scheduled road and footpath sweeping  

 Grass cutting and flower bed maintenance  

 Weed removal on highways and footpaths  

 Removing fly tipping  

 Removing animal remains in certain circumstances  

 Graffiti removal in certain areas  

 Cleaning of road signs 

 Clearing dog fouling 

 Tree maintenance  

We will undertake any of the above activities on private land by arrangement and for a charge on an 

ad hoc basis or as part of a planned regime. 

13.1 Graffiti Removal 

We provide a graffiti removal service for buildings, walls or other monuments or objects owned by 

Plymouth City Council. 

If graffiti is offensive it will be removed within an hour of the service being notified if during the 

working day, or if out of hours as soon as practicable.  It is classed as offensive if it has some or all of 

the following elements:   

 Offensive language  

 Language of a politically/racially/religiously insulting/inciting nature  

 A hate statement  

 An image which is graphically explicit  

 An image which is visually offensive or textually offensive by the message that it contains 

Removal of non-offensive graffiti will take place within 10 days of being notified. 

We will remove graffiti from privately owned land for a fee.  

13.2 Litter Bins 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Street Scene and Waste Services Policy  Page 11 of 11 

We will provide litter bins in relevant locations in streets, parks and open spaces on Council owned 

land.  We are responsible for emptying litter bins. The frequency of this will vary depending on need. 

We will also empty bins on privately own land, by arrangement, for a charge. 

 

14.  Parks, Play and Open Spaces 

We will maintain formal / informal parks and open spaces. We will provide safe and suitable play areas 
and will maintain and inspect these areas for cleanliness and safety, in line with best practice and 

industry standards. 

This includes:  

 Grounds maintenance 

 Sports Pitch Maintenance 

 Shrub/flower bed maintenance on Council owned land 

 Grass cutting 

 Path cleansing 

 Playground maintenance and inspection 

 Weed spraying 

We will undertake any of the above activities on private land by arrangement and for a charge on an 

ad-hoc basis or as part of a planned regime. 

15. Tree Services 

We inspect and maintain all trees on Council owned land.  We will prioritise and allocate work based 

on how much of a risk it poses to the public and property.  This is done in line with our Tree 

Management Statement. 

Trees on privately-owned land are the responsibility of the land owner unless the tree has fallen on to 

Council owned land.  Trees on privately-owned land can be inspected and maintained by arrangement 

and at a charge. 

Further details of this service can be found on our website.  





 

9 March 2017 OFFICIAL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – CUSTOMER AND PARTNER 
Street Scene and Waste Services Policy 

 

 

STAGE 1: What is being assessed and by whom? 

What is being assessed - including a brief 

description of aims and objectives? 

The Plan for Modernisation of Waste and Street Services was approved by Cabinet on 8 November 2016 

contained within the plan was the creation of a Street Scene and Waste Services policy to underpin the 

modernisation of Waste and Street Services a Policy has been created. 

To support a collaborative approach, the policy sets out clearly that the Council’s Street Scene and 

Waste teams will follow – and crucially – the support the expectation from the citizens of the City.  

The creation Street Scene and Waste Services Policy has taken account of detailed analysis and 
engagement including:  

 

 Review of feedback from customers made via Firmstep, with 567 responses in the last 12 

months reviewed 

 Review of the responses to relevant questions in the ‘Time for Big Decisions’ Consultation 

questionnaire which was completed in September 2016. 

 Review of previous drafts of Waste policies in Plymouth  

 Review of Policies in other local authorities in our CIPFA family group and authorities 

deemed to excel at engagement on waste issues. 

 WRAP (Waste Reduction and Participation) national best practice guidance – the ‘Waste 
Commitment’ 

 Series of workshops with Service Team Leaders, Staff focus groups and regular reviews of 

drafts by Team Leaders and Managers 

 Input and reviews from Legal Services and Public Protection services to ensure a policy 
would be sufficiently robust against which to take enforcement decisions. 

 Series of 7 Ward Councillor drop-ins in November/December to capture key issues which 

would need to be addressed within the policy. 

 Regular updates and amendments made with Portfolio Holder. 

 Discussion at Shadow Portfolio Holder meetings. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – CUSTOMER AND PARTNER       Page 2 of 7 

STAGE 1: What is being assessed and by whom? 

 Update at Labour group meeting on progress and development of the policy. 

 Reviewed by CMT 
 

Responsible Officer Lou Hayward 

Department and Service Waste Services and Street Services – Street Cleansing and Grounds 

Date of Assessment 08/03/2017 

 

STAGE 2: Evidence and Impact 

Protected Characteristics 

(Equality Act) 

Evidence and 

information (e.g. data 

and feedback) 

Any adverse impact? Actions Timescale and who is 

responsible? 

Age (Customer) 
Age represents a significant 

issue in the provision of a 

universal waste collection 

service. In 2011/12 census 

data, 33.1% of people were 

Plymouth are over 50, with 

7.7% over 75.  

 

Over 75’s are predicted to 

rise faster than any other 

group (19,000 in 2008 to 

31,000 in 2028).  

 

While the attainment of a 

certain age does not 

provide de-facto access to 

the service a large number 

of assisted collection users 

are older people, and 

The policy includes the 

provision of assisted 

collections and will 

continue to remain open 

to any individual who 

requires support 

regardless of age. 

 

The plan for the future 

provision of service is to 

reduce the need for 

assisted collection by 

providing accessible 

communal collection 

points where 

appropriate. 

Individuals may be 

required to reapply for 

the service. However we 

Collect and collate 

information from 

partner agencies to 

identify current assisted 

collection users who will 

continue to require 

support. 

 

Engage with partner 

agencies such as PCH, 

Plymouth University and 

the NHS trust(s) to 

promote and support 

project / service 

communication and 

education plans. 

 

Contact agencies such as 

Age UK to collect 

Waste Liaison Officers/ Project 

Team January to June as the 

policy and service changes are 

developed and implemented. 

A review of changes 

implemented will be undertaken 

after 3 months and 

improvements planned. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – CUSTOMER AND PARTNER       Page 3 of 7 

STAGE 2: Evidence and Impact 

Protected Characteristics 

(Equality Act) 

Evidence and 

information (e.g. data 
and feedback) 

Any adverse impact? Actions Timescale and who is 

responsible? 

therefore these trends 

suggest / demonstrate the 

importance of ensuring an 

effective service that can 

accommodate future need.  

 

This project will impact on 

all age groups as customer 

practices and expectations 

will change.  

 

will contact partners to 

produce intelligence 

identifying legitimate 

service users; this will 

limit the number of 

households we contact 

asking them to reapply.  

Positive steps will be 

taken through involving 

service users, partner 

agencies and Members to 

ensure that policy 

documents are fit for 

purpose. 

We will build in positive 

links with partner 

agencies to ensure 

fairness in the outcomes 

of the service review.  

feedback and enable 

input into proposed 

changes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disability (Customer) 
Data for 2011 shows that 

49,545 (20.6%) of people 

have declared themselves 

as having a limiting long 

term illness, against a 

national average of 18.2%. 

 

11,655 (6.7%) of people 

consider themselves 

permanently sick or 

Assisted collection will 

continue to remain open 

to any individual who 

requires support. 

Individuals may be 

required to reapply for 

the service. However, 

we will contact partners 

to produce intelligence 

Collect and collate 

information from 

partner agencies to 

identify current assisted 

collection users who will 

continue to require 

support 

 

 

A review of changes 

implemented will be undertaken 

after 3 months and 

improvements planned. 

 

 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – CUSTOMER AND PARTNER       Page 4 of 7 

STAGE 2: Evidence and Impact 

Protected Characteristics 

(Equality Act) 

Evidence and 

information (e.g. data 
and feedback) 

Any adverse impact? Actions Timescale and who is 

responsible? 

disabled against a national 

average of 5.5%.  

Around 30,000 people 

have a diagnosed mental 

health issue.  

 

The above average level of 

disability in Plymouth 

suggests that our assisted 

collection service will be 

placed under greater 

pressure than the majority 

of other Council schemes.  

identifying legitimate 

service users; this will 

limit the number of 

households we contact 

asking them to reapply.  

Positive steps will be 

taken through involving 

service users, partner 

agencies and Members to 

ensure that policy 

documents are fit for 

purpose. 

We will build in positive 

links with partner 

agencies to add value to 

our communications and 

promote the welfare of 

service users 

Engage with partner 

agencies to promote 

joined up provision. 

Contact agencies such as 

Plymouth Area Disability 

Network to collect 

feedback and enable 

input into proposed 

changes 

 

 

 

Faith, Religion or Belief 
As of 2011 Plymouth’s 

breakdown in relation to 

religion was: 

No faith: 30%  

Hindu, Buddhist and Jewish 

combined less than 1%.  

Christian 68%  

Muslim/Islam 1.7% 

 

No. Waste Collection 
Services will support 

people irrespective of 

their faith, religion or 

belief.  

As part of  continual 
service improvement if 

matters do arise we will 

liaise with community 

partners 

Team leaders 

A quarterly monitoring of 

customer feedback will be in 

place. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – CUSTOMER AND PARTNER       Page 5 of 7 

STAGE 2: Evidence and Impact 

Protected Characteristics 

(Equality Act) 

Evidence and 

information (e.g. data 
and feedback) 

Any adverse impact? Actions Timescale and who is 

responsible? 

Gender - including marriage, 

pregnancy and maternity 

There were 3216 births in 

2008/9. 

 

7.4% homes are headed by 

a lone parent.  

 

 

Support will continue to 

be provided for pregnant 

members of the 

community who live 

alone. This will be given 

greater visibility within 

our documentation, 

ensuring that those who 

need it will be able to 

access support. 

As part of  continual 

service improvement if 

matters do arise we will 

liaise with community 

partners 

Team leaders 

A quarterly monitoring of 

customer feedback will be in 

place. 

Gender Reassignment Data for this area is 

limited. It is estimated that 

there are 10,000 

transgender people in the 

UK. In Plymouth as of 

2011 23 transgender 

people were registered 

with Plymouth Pride.  

Waste Collection 

Services will support 

people irrespective of 

gender 

As part of  continual 

service improvement if 

matters do arise we will 

liaise with community 

partners 

Team leaders 

A quarterly monitoring of 

customer feedback will be in 

place. 

Race As of 2011 Plymouth’s 

BME community accounted 

for 7.1% of the overall 

population, significantly 

below the national average.  

Waste Collection 

Services will support 

people irrespective of 

race 

As part of  continual 

service improvement if 

matters do arise we will 

liaise with community 

partners 

Team leaders 

A quarterly monitoring of 

customer feedback will be in 

place. 

Sexual Orientation -including Civil 

Partnership 

No accurate data exists 

regarding the LGB 

community in Plymouth, 

but nationally the 

Waste Collection 

Services will support 

people irrespective of 

sexual orientation 

As part of  continual 

service improvement if 

matters do arise we will 

Team leaders 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – CUSTOMER AND PARTNER       Page 6 of 7 

STAGE 2: Evidence and Impact 

Protected Characteristics 

(Equality Act) 

Evidence and 

information (e.g. data 
and feedback) 

Any adverse impact? Actions Timescale and who is 

responsible? 

population is estimated at 

between 5 to 7 %. This 

would mean that around 

12,500 people aged over 

16 in Plymouth are LGB.  

 

In 2009 29 Civil 

Ceremonies were 

conducted.  

 

liaise with community 

partners 
A quarterly monitoring of 

customer feedback will be in 

place. 

Socio-economic status Although socio-economic 

status is not a strand in the 

2010 Equalities Act we 

recognise that our actions 

should incorporate an 

understanding of need in 

this area. 

Users who consistently 

fail to look after their bin 

or break policy may face 

a financial charge for the 

delivery of a new 

receptacle or as part of 

enforcement action 

However we propose 

that those on a low 
income would be 

exempt from charges for 

new containers if this 

policy is implemented 

As part of  continual 

service improvement if 

matters do arise we will 

liaise with community 

partners 

Team leaders 

A quarterly monitoring of 

customer feedback will be in 

place. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – CUSTOMER AND PARTNER       Page 7 of 7 

 

STAGE 3: Are there any implications for the following? If so, please record ‘Actions’ to be taken 

Local Priorities  Implications Timescale and who is responsible? 

Reduce the inequality gap, 

particularly in health between 

communities.  

As waste collection is a universal service planned to 

ensure that all communities receive a standard level of 

service. Where resident need further assistance 

appropriate level of services. 

 Team Leaders and Managers 

 

Good relations between different 

communities (community cohesion). 

We aim to support the creation of community capital 

by promoting cleaner, more attractive environments.  

A quarterly monitoring of customer feedback will be in 

place. 

Human Rights There are no implications for Human Rights. The 

service will remain universal, ensuring that all residents 

receive equitable and effective provision.  

A quarterly monitoring of customer feedback will be in 

place. 

Principles of fairness 

Please refer to guidance 

In order to protect the principles of fairness, the policy 

informs how services will continue to be delivered in a 

way that ensures all citizens receive a service in a fair 

and consistent manner. 

 

Senior Management and Team Leaders will be 

responsible for ensuring fairness is protected throughout 

service delivery. A quarterly monitoring of customer 

feedback will be in place. 

 

STAGE 4: Publication 

Director, Assistant Director/Head of 

Service approving EIA.  

Lou Hayward Date 9.3.2017 

 

 

http://documentlibrary/documents/guide_to_completing_equality_impact_assessments.pdf




 

9 March 2017 OFFICIAL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT - WORKFORCE 
Street Scene and Waste Services Policy 

 

 

STAGE 1: WHAT IS BEING ASSESSED AND BY WHOM? 

What is being assessed - including a brief 

description of aims and objectives? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Plan for Modernisation of Waste and Street Services was approved by Cabinet on 8 November 2016 

contained within the plan was the creation of a Street Scene and Waste Services policy to underpin the 

modernisation of Waste and Street Services a Policy has been created. 

To support a collaborative approach, the policy sets out clearly that the Council’s Street Scene and Waste 

teams will follow – and crucially – the support the expectation from the citizens of the City.  

The creation Street Scene and Waste Services Policy has taken account of detailed analysis and 

engagement including:  

 

 Review of feedback from customers made via Firmstep, with 567 responses in the last 12 
months reviewed 

 Review of the responses to relevant questions in the ‘Time for Big Decisions’ Consultation 

questionnaire which was completed in September 2016. 

 Review of previous drafts of Waste policies in Plymouth  

 Review of Policies in other local authorities in our CIPFA family group and authorities 

deemed to excel at engagement on waste issues. 

 WRAP (Waste Reduction and Participation) national best practice guidance – the ‘Waste 
Commitment’ 

 Series of workshops with Service Team Leaders, Staff focus groups and regular reviews of 

drafts by Team Leaders and Managers 

 Input and reviews from Legal Services and Public Protection services to ensure a policy 

would be sufficiently robust against which to take enforcement decisions. 

 Series of 7 Ward Councillor drop-ins in November/December to capture key issues which 

would need to be addressed within the policy. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT - WORKFORCE       Page 2 of 6 

 Regular updates and amendments made with Portfolio Holder. 

 Discussion at Shadow Portfolio Holder meetings. 

 Update at Labour group meeting on progress and development of the policy. 

 Reviewed by CMT 

 

Responsible Officer Lou Hayward 

Department and service Waste Services and Street Services – Street Cleansing and Grounds 

Date of assessment 8/3/2017 

 

STAGE 2: EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Protected 

characteristics 

(Equality Act) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and feedback) Any adverse 

impact 

See guidance on 

how to make 

judgement 

Actions Timescale and 

who is 

responsible 

Age September 2016 Establishment data below specifies that the 

departmental splits within age groups. 

Teenager 

20 to 29 

30 to 39 

40 to 49 

50 to 59 

60 and over 

 

2 

28 

48 

90 

102 

60 

 
 

Slightly longer 

working days.  

Employees of all 

ages will continue 

to be assessed for 

their needs via the 

management team. 

Flexible working 

requests and 

purchase of 
additional annual 

leave remain as 

options to ensure 

staff can achieve 

Staff have 

requested 

condensed hours  

therefore there is 

a greater recovery 

time with a 3 day 

and a 4 day break 

between shifts.  

There will be no 

change as a 4 day 
working pattern 

remain embedded 

in the policy. 

Responsibility lies 

with the Team 

Leaders to 

individually access 

requests for 

annual leave and 

flexible working 

http://documentlibrary/documents/equality_toolkit.pdf


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT - WORKFORCE       Page 3 of 6 

good work life 

balance. 

 

Disability September 2016 Establishment data specifies that the department 

has 12 employees who have declared themselves as disabled. This 

equates to 4.15% of employees.  Total number of employees 289 

Employees with 

disabilities will 

continue to have 

their needs 

assessed for their 

support needs by 

the management 

team. 

New starters with 

a disability will have 

an assessment to 

identify support 

needs 

Team leaders will 

ensure that needs 

of the employee 

through their 

regular 

performance 

reviews. 

When changes are 

made to working 

practices these 

needs will be 

considered 

Team Leaders and 

employee.  

Monthly 

performance 

reviews and new 

starters 

inductions. 

Faith/religion or 

belief 

September 2016 Establishment data below specifies that the 

departmental allocation of faiths. This equates to 11% of employees 

registering their faith with PCC. 

Christian 

None 

Other 

Prefer not to say 

Did not respond 

29 

27 

1 

3 

250 
 

Support needs 

relating to faith will 

be identified as part 

of the new starter 

induction process. 

 

Employees whose 

needs change can 

raise this will their 

team leader and 

appropriate 

support put in 

place 

Team leaders will 

ensure that needs 

of the employee 

through their 

regular 
performance 

reviews. 

When changes are 

made to working 

practices these 

needs will be 

considered 

Team Leaders and 

employee.  

Monthly 

performance 

reviews and new 
starters 

inductions. 

Gender - 

including 

marriage, 

September 2016 Establishment data below specifies that the 

departmental splits within gender groups. 

Longer days may 

have impact on 

childcare 

Consideration will 

be taken alongside 

HR guidelines to 

Responsibility lies 

with the Team 

Leaders to 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT - WORKFORCE       Page 4 of 6 

pregnancy and 

maternity 
Male 

Female 

Single 

Cohabiting 

Married 

Not Specified 

Civil Partnership 

Divorced 

Separated 

Widow 

226 

23 

48 

19 

22 

2 

2 

4 

3 

1 
 

arrangements for 

both male and 

female members of 

staff 

 

support the need 

for flexible 

working where 

requests are made 

individually access 

requests for 

flexible working  

Gender 

reassignment 

September 2016 Establishment data details that the department have 

no employees who have declared themselves as undergoing or 

have undergone gender reassignment. 

Employees of all 

genders will 

continue to be 

supported through 

PCC guidance and 

policies. 

 

Team leaders will 

ensure that needs 

of the employee 

through their 

regular 

performance 
reviews. 

When changes are 

made to working 

practices these 

needs will be 

considered 

Team Leaders and 

employee.  

Monthly 

performance 

reviews and new 

starters 
inductions. 

Race September 2016 Establishment data below specifies that the 

departmental allocation of race. This equates to 59% of employees 

registering their race with PCC. 

White British 

Not Declared 

Any other White background 

197 

1 

5 

Employees of all 

races and 

ethnicities will  

continue to be 

supported  

 

Team leaders will 

ensure that needs 

of the employee 

through their 

regular 

performance 

reviews. 

Team Leaders and 

employee.  

Monthly 

performance 

reviews and new 

starters 

inductions. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT - WORKFORCE       Page 5 of 6 

Any other ethnic background 

White - Irish 

Black or British - African 

Black or Black British - Caribbean 

Did not respond 

0 

1 

1 

1 

124 

 
 

 

Sexual 

orientation -

including civil 

partnership 

September 2016 Establishment data shows that employees have 

declared the following information on their sexual orientation. 

Declined to specify 

Gay 

Lesbian 

Heterosexual  

Did not respond 

2 

1 

1 

4 

322 

 
 

Employees of any 

sexual orientation 

will  continue to be 

supported  

 

Team leaders will 

ensure that needs 

of the employee 

through their 

regular 

performance 

reviews. 

 

Team Leaders and 

employee.  

Monthly 

performance 

reviews and new 

starters 

inductions. 

STAGE 3: ARE THERE ANY IMPLICATIONS FOR THE FOLLOWING? IF SO, PLEASE RECORD ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN 

Local priorities Implications Timescale and who is 

responsible 

Reduce the inequality gap, 

particularly in health between 

communities.  

The workforce will benefit from a service where all role profiles have been 

graded fairly and are appropriate to the work load undertaken.   Workloads 

have been balanced fairly across the workforce 

 

 

Senior management is responsible 

for the availability of recreational 

facilities for all age groups and 

spread evenly across the city.  

This will be reviewed  

Good relations between different 

communities (community 

cohesion) 

We will embed a supportive and inclusive working environment. Senior Management and team 

leaders will be responsible for 

embedding a supportive and inclusive 

working environment  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT - WORKFORCE       Page 6 of 6 

Human rights 

Please refer to guidance 

In order to protect individual human rights, the policy will inform how 

services will continue to be delivered in a way that respects an 

employee’s and dignity and enables them to decide how things get done. 

All staff members are responsible for 

on-going support to Human Rights 

Principles of fairness 

Please refer to guidance 

In order to protect the principles of fairness, the policy informs how 

services will continue to be provided in a way that ensures all 

employees are requested to carry out duties in a fair and consistent 

manner. 

 

Senior Management and Team 

Leaders will be responsible for 

ensuring fairness is protected 

throughout the department in 

conjunction with HR.  

 

 

 

STAGE 4: PUBLICATION 

 

Responsible Officer  Lou Hayward  Date  

Assistant Director  

http://documentlibrary/documents/guide_to_completing_equality_impact_assessments.pdf
http://documentlibrary/documents/guide_to_completing_equality_impact_assessments.pdf

	Agenda
	4a Supporting Information
	Street Scene and Waste Services Policy
	Policy Equalities Impact Assessment - Customer and Partners
	Policy Equalities Impact Assessment - Workforce


